IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KEANDRE VALENTINE, Appellant, vs. THE STATE OF NEVADA,	Electronically Filed NO. 74468 Aug 08 2018 03:08 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court Clerk of Supreme Court		
Respondent.	3		
respondent.			
APPELLANT'S AMENDED OPENING BRIEF (Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)			
PHILIP J. KOHN	STEVEN B. WOLFSON		
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF.	CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY.		
309 South Third Street, #226	200 Lewis Avenue, 3 rd Floor		
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610	Las Vegas, Nevada 89155		
(702) 455-4685	(702) 455-4711		
Attorney for Appellant	ADAM LAXALT		
	Attorney General		
	100 North Carson Street		
	Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717		
	(775) 684-1265

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

NRS 177.015 gives Court jurisdiction to review appeal from jury verdict. IV:819-22. District court sentenced Keandre on 09/28/17 (XIII:2958-89) and filed judgment on 10/16/17 (IV:827-31). Keandre filed Notice of Appeal on 11/06/17. IV:832-36.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. EVIDENCE INSUFFICIENT.
- II. COURT CREATED STRUCTURAL ERROR BY PREJUDGING KEANDRE'S CHALLENGE TO THE VENIRE.
- III. KEANDRE'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS AND CONFRONTATION WERE VIOLATED BY COURT ADMITTING THE ENTIRE GRAND JURY TESTIMONY OF SEVERAL WITNESSES.
- IV. KEANDRE'S RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE WAS VIOLATED WHEN COURT REFUSED TO ADMIT ALL THE PHOTOGRAPHS OF BOBBY McCOY.
- V. KEANDRE'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS WAS VIOLATED BY COURT ALLOWING STATE TO VIOLATE DISCOVERY RULES AND ORDERS WITHOUT GRANTING A MISTRIAL.
- VI. STATE COMMITTED PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT AND VIOLATED DUE PROCESS BY PRESENTING IMPROPER REBUTTAL EVIDENCE.

VII. PREJUDICIAL ERROR OCCURRED BY COURT ALLOWING JURY TO HEAR AND READ PORTIONS OF KEANDRE'S JAIL CONVERSATIONS.

VIII. JURY INSTRUCTION ERRORS.

IX. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

X. CUMULATIVE ERROR.

STATEMENT OF CASE

On 06/29/16, State filed an Indictment charging Keandre Valentine with 14 felony counts involving crimes of robbery with use of a deadly weapon, attempt robbery with deadly weapon, burglary while in possession of a firearm, possession of personal identifying information, and possession of credit cards without consent.²

At his district court arraignment on 07/07/16, Keandre pled not guilty; trial was continued twice. IV:885-89; *Minutes*-IV:842; IV:890-93; 899-903; *Minutes*-IV:843-847. Prior to trial, Keandre filed an alibi notice (III:518-19) and several motions, as did the State.

The 10 day jury trial began on 07/24/17, concluding on 08/04/17³ with the jury returning guilty verdicts on all counts.⁴

² Counts and charges (Footnote 4); Indictment (I:001-6); GJ testimony (I:009-113).

DAY 1: 07/24/17 (Appendix:V:937-1153; VI: 1164-1238) (Minutes-IV:855-57); DAY 2: 07/25/17 (VI:1239-1401;VII:1402-1426)(Min.-

On 09/28/17, court sentenced Keandre to an aggregate sentence of 8 to 48 years. XIII:2958-89; *Minutes*-IV:879-81.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is a case of mistaken identification. Keandre Valentine contended he never committed any robberies and thought Bobby McCoy was the culprit. XIII:2874-75. Both men were African-American with similar physical characteristics but different in height. XIII:2875-77; Exhibits-XIV:2991;XV:3241-32473251. Bobby self-reported as 5'10" tall and 145 lbs. whereas Keandre was 6'234". IV:816;XII:2606;2678. Both were staying at an apartment where evidence from the robberies was found. Keandre argued the misidentification occurred because identification

IV:858-89); <u>DAY 3: 07/26/17</u> (VII:1427-1625) (*Min.*-IV:860-61); <u>DAY</u> 4: 07/27/17 (VIII:1626-1799)(*Min.*-IV:862); <u>DAY 5: 7/28/27</u> (IX:1800—2021)(*Min.*-IV:863-64); <u>DAY 6: 07/31/17</u> (X:2022-2269; XI:2270-2342)(*Min.*-IV:865-66); <u>DAY 7: 08/01/17</u> (XI:2342-2519;XII:2520-2429)(*Min.*-IV:867-68); <u>DAY 8: 08/02/17</u> (XII:2530-2760;XIII:2770-2812)(*Min.*-IV:869-71); <u>DAY 9: 08/03/17</u> (XIII:2813-1947)(*Min.*-IV:872-73); <u>DAY 10: 08/04/17</u> (XIII:2948-2956)(*Min.*-IV:874-75).

Jury returned guilty verdicts: *Robbery with use of a deadly weapon* (NRS 200.380;193.165) as listed in Counts 1, 3, 4, 6, 7, 9, and 11; *Burglary while in possession of a deadly weapon* (NRS 205.060) in Counts 2, 5, and 10; *Attempt Robbery with deadly weapon* (NRS 200.380;193.330. 193.165) in Count 8; *Possession of personal identifying information* (NRS 205.465) in Count 12; *Possession of credit card without consent* (NRS 205.690) in Counts 13-14.

procedures used by the police were suggestive or the witnesses were mistaken. XIII:2882-93.

State contended Keandre committed the crimes because he was the one identified by the witnesses. XIII:2865-68.

The events in this case began around Memorial Day weekend 2016 – a time visitors came to Las Vegas to celebrate the holiday. Chanise William's friends began arriving at her apartment the Thursday and Friday before the weekend. XII:2596. The plan was to chill at her apartment and party together or with other friends. XII:2630;2626. Those staying with Chanise that weekend were: Keandre Valentine (Chanise's cousin), Bobby McCoy, Omara McBride, Damian Trayler, and Chanise's sister, niece, and nephew. IX:1811;X:2281-2;XI:2347;XII:2596-97;2627.

Omara arrived at Chanise's apartment with Keandre, Bobby and another woman on Friday, 05/27/16, in the morning or afternoon. XII:2620;2653;2659. Their arrival marked Chanise's first opportunity to see Omara's new white Mazda, purchased by Omara in California before the trip to Las Vegas. XII:2596-97;2611;2616;2622;2646;2653. Chanise

believed Keandre and Omara drove from California to Las Vegas that Friday but was not sure. XII:2646;2653;2659.⁵

Friday night, the girls went out. XII:2653. Omara parked her white Mazda at the D Casino around 11:26 pm, leaving it for two hours.⁶ XII:2629. Chanise remembered walking down Freemont and spending time at the Gold Spike and D casino. XII:2597-2600. Upon returning to the apartment around 3:00 or 4:00 am, Chanise thought she saw Damian, Bobby and Keandre inside. XII:2600-01;2656. She was not sure where Bobby was in the apartment but Keandre was in her bed and Damian went to her son's room. XII:2627;2630-31;2639;2647. She put on her PJ's and fell asleep on the couch. XII:2601;2617;2640.

The next morning, on Saturday 05/28/16, between 7:30 and 8:00 am, Chanise learned police were on the parking lot of her apartment complex investigating Omara's Mazda. IX:1811;X:2133-39; XII:2603;2632;2648; XV:3343-44. Omara came outside to see what was happening and identified the white Mazda as her car. X:2139;2214-18. Chanise also came out to talk to the police. IX:1849-50.

Keandre told detectives he helped his girlfriend Omara purchase her new 2016 Mazda 3. They arrived in Las Vegas together. XI:2341-48.

Mathew Gambardella's testimony at XII:2588-94;XII:2628-30.

METRO officers were investigating a series of robberies occurring that morning involving a white Mazda. X:2195-2219. When they located Omara's white Mazda, they noticed the hood was warm to the touch, suggesting to them it had recently been driven. X:2137;2214.

After learning the apartment number Chanise and Omara were staying in, Officers entered apartment #218 and detained two males found inside. X:2144;2214-18. Chanise said she did not know who was in the apartment when she went to the parking lot to find out what was going on. XII:2631-32. She did not know when Bobby left. XII:2648. Keandre was detained by police after he was found in bed under the covers wearing flip flops. IX:1813-15;X:2219-21. Police froze the apartment until a search warrant was obtained. IX:1810-19;1854.

The team called to the scene to search Chanise's apartment and the car involved: Detective Ludwig (IX:1804-1859); Officer Ubbens (VII:1176-76) CSA Smith (VII:1543-85); Detective Majors (X:2181-2321); and Officer Wise (X:2128-61).

CSA Smith photographed Omara's 4-door Mazda which had a SKYACTIV Technology emblem on the back; and, in lieu of license plates a black, blue, and white dealer advertisement. VII:1549-2;Exhibits-XV:3233;3343-44. A yellow sticker on the windows suggested the windows

were recently tinted. VII:1553-4. Smith dusted the inside/outside for fingerprints, discovering five latent prints. VII:1552-59.

Later, latent print examiner Gayle Johnson examined the latent prints found on Omara's Mazda. X:2091-2177. Johnson identified four people. Bobby McCoy's right middle finger was found on the exterior right front door below the handle. X:2099. Latasha Allen's right thumb was on the right rear exterior door, along the back edge. X:2097-8. Keandre's right index finger and right middle finger were on the left front-door window. X:2099. An unknown person's print was found on the right rear exterior door handle. X:2098. Other prints were insufficient for identification. X:2093-95.

CSA Smith also photographed and documented the evidence impounded by detectives found inside Chanise's apartment after police obtained a search warrant. VII:1558;1572. A Glock M model 27 handgun was found in two pieces: the slide was found in the NE bedroom and the frame in the SE bedroom. VII:1562-62VIII:1781-82;IX:1822-26. Cartridges for the gun were located in the SE bedroom. VII:1571;IX:1824-25;VII:1786. Smith swabbed the gun for DNA; he recovered no fingerprints. VII:1567.

Other items impounded from the apartment included several cell phones (located in various places), a Visa debit card in the name of Rose Ramirez, and Jordan Alexander's Wells Fargo debit card and Nevada ID (found in the master bedroom). VII:1567-70;VIII:1786-96;IX:1826-29. Cell phones impounded included one Samsung and two IPhones. VIII:1786-96;IX:1820-22;X:2262. No cash or jewelry was recovered. VII:1581; IX:1843. Smith did not attempt to obtain prints or DNA from the cell phones, the ID cards or the credit cards. VII:1582;X:2265-66. Bobby McCoy was not found inside the apartment. IX:1843.

Chanise testified she knew nothing about the debit cards and ID found in her bedroom - she did not put them there. XII:2638-39 As the cell phones, she had several; she thought her visitors had IPhones. XII:2635-37. Chanise never saw anyone with a firearm or bullets and did not know these items were in her apartment. XII:2634-35;2641-42.

As to the swab of the gun, at trial, forensic scientist Beata Vida testified that only a partial DNA profile was obtained. X:2061-67. The DNA profile was of at least 2 people, one being male. X:2087-85. Because the DNA profile did not meet standards allowing for a useable comparison, she gave no opinion and made no further conclusion. X:2066-67.

The reason police were at Chanise's apartment complex that morning was because METRO was investigating five robbery separate incidents involving a white car which they believed was Omara's Mazda.

The **first robbery** took place on Thursday, 05/26/16 at 12:58 pm. VIII:1469. Marvin Bass testified that a white Kia pulled up within 20-25 feet of his car while parked at the Rancho Discount Mall. VII:1469-72;1479. Marvin initially described the car as a white 2-door without plates but later as a 4-door Kia or Fiat. VII:1479;1492-93;1535;1539-40. Marvin also claimed that in lieu of plates there was a white cover; but at the grand jury he said there was a red and white dealer plate. VII:1493-94.

Marvin testified that a black male exited the car and walked towards his driver side window. He described the male as in his mid-20's, with a medium short afro, 6 feet, or 5 feet 10 or 11 inches tall, 160 lbs. VII:1495-6;XIV:3009. On the day of the incident he described the man as a "tall black male adult...20 years old and 6 feet tall, 150 lbs., short afro." X:2187-88. The man pointed a gun at Marvin with his left hand, announced a robbery, and demanded his gold, money, and wallet. VII:1473. Marvin described the gun as a 9mm Glock. VII:1537. With his right hand, the male reached inside the car grabbing Marvin's gold chains with charms off Marvin's neck. VII:1473. When he asked for Marvin's cell phone, Marvin

told him he did not have one. VII:1474. After patting Marvin down, the man told Marvin to look down. However, once he knew the car was driving away, Marvin called 911 and followed the car until he lost sight of it. VII:1476-81.

Police took Marvin's report that same day. VII:1480-81;1493-94. Detective Majors responded, recording his interview. X:2183-88. Majors went to EZ Pawn and impounded a video regarding the incident but the video was missing at the time of trial. X:2295-2300.

The other <u>four robbery incidents</u> being investigated by METRO occurred on Saturday, 05/28/16, between 6:53 am and 7:08 am, involving a young African-American male and a white Mazda.

Between 6:53 and 7:00 am, on 05/28/16, while Darrell and Deborah Faulkner were inside their garage, packing items in boxes, a black male pointed a gun at them and told them to get on the ground or he would shoot. IX:1906-10;1957-63. Both sat down. IX:1911. The gun was a black Glock which he held in his left hand. IX:1959;1977. The man asked Darrell where their valuables were and Darrell handed him \$100 from his wallet but refused to give-up his wallet. IX:1912;1962-65;1969. The man directed Deborah to dump her purse on the ground but took nothing from her purse or her. IX:1914;1965-66.

When the man left, they closed the garage door and called the police. IX:1915:1966-70. Darrell described the black man as young, slender, goatee, short Jeheri curls, wearing a short sleeved black or navy shirt and black pants or jeans. IX:1979-84. His initial description of the suspect was that he was a black male adult, 18-19 years old, small build, wearing black shorts or blue jeans with a black shirt and blue tennis shoes. X:2195.

Majors and Officer Wise responded to the Faulkner's call. X:2128-2161;X:2195-99. While talking to the Faulkners Majors heard over the radio other robberies were taking place only a few blocks away. X:2199-2209.

At some point, Majors took Darrell to a show-up on the parking lot of Chanise's apartment. The show-up included two possible suspects: Keandre and Damian. Darrell identified Keandre as the perpetrator. IX:1971-73;1987-88;X:2222-;2254-56.

The show-up and the witnesses were photographed by Smith. VII:1574;X:2287-88. In the pictures, Keandre and Damian are substantially different in height and dissimilar in appearance. IX:1841;Exhibit-XIV:30493051XV:3239. Witnesses at the show-up identified Keandre, who had several tattoos on his lower and upper left arm and a tattoo on the inside right wrist, as the suspect, even though none of the witnesses

described a perpetrator with tattoos. Both men stood for the show-ups. IX:1855. The men were not similar in physical characteristics.

During the show-up, victims were 20-15 feet away from the suspect in the show-up. IX:1832. However, an investigator measured the area and determined the victims were 77 or 90 feet away from the suspects. XII:2687. Keandre was in handcuffs.

As part of the show-up procedures, METRO used show-up forms. IX:1834-39. However, the show-up form for Darrell was missing at the time of trial. VIII:2222;2254-55.

At trial, Darrell and Deborah identified Keandra. VI:1925;1973;1990. But when shown a picture of the gun recovered by the police from Chanise's apartment, Darrell was unsure if it was the same one used by the suspect. IX:1985;1990.

At 7:01 am, on 05/28/16, while packing up his mother's car for a trip, Jordan Alexander noticed a brand new white Mazda, 4 door, without license plates, park 10 feet or 3 feet away. VII:1586-90;1671-71. As he turned to exit his car, a black male stood next to him, with a black gun in his left hand, and said: "Give me everything you got." VII:1590;1663-64;1673. Jordan gave the man his wallet, containing his identification, social security card, and Wells Fargo debit card. VII:1590-93.

As the man drove away, Jordan noticed the car had a SKYACTIVE symbol, Mazda emblem, tinted windows, and no license plate. VII:1594-95;1658-61;1659-63. Jordan ran inside, told his mother to call police, and took off after the suspect in his own car. Within 5 minutes he saw a police car, stopped the officer, and explained what occurred. VII:1595-99. He described the male as African-American, with short hair and thin. VII:1613-23. But Jordan also described the black male as 200 lbs, 5'10", young, messy afro, like starting to grow dreads. VII:1664-66.

Later, Jordan was taken to the show-up at Chanise's apartment where he identified Keandre. VII:1605-9;1611-14. At trial he identified Keandre, the debit and identification cards taken from him, and the Mazda. VIII:1591;1609-11;1612-16.

Around 7:00 am, on 05/28/16, while in the driver's seat of his truck in front of his home, Lazaro Bravo-Torres saw a dark skinned male approach. IX:1926-35. The male asked for directions and then walked towards him with a small black handgun in his right hand, saying: "Don't move or I will shoot you." IX:1935-36;1942;1955.

Lazaro was waiting for his wife Rose Vazkuez-Ramirez who was walking to the truck when the man approached. IX:1870-74. Rose opened the truck door and sat in the passenger seat when she heard her husband

curse. Rose saw the man had a gun. IX:1875-76. The man forced her husband to exit the truck and told her not to move when she got out or he would shoot her. IX:1876. The man searched Lazaro's pants but he did not have a wallet on him. IX:1878.

The man then climbed inside the truck and went through the items in the middle but did not take Lazaro's cell phone which was in the console. IX:1940-42. When the man took Rose's purse, Lazaro told the man the purse belonged to his wife. IX:1940. Inside Rose's purse were her Samsung phone, bank cards, identification, and some money. IV:1879. After taking the purse, the man told Lazaro and Rose to get back inside the truck and drive away. IX:1880. As they drove away, Rose called the police. IX:1942.

Police eventually took Rose and Lazaro for a show-up at Chanise's apartment complex. Police did not use the Spanish show-up forms for Lazaro and Rosa but an officer read the English version in Spanish. IX:1835-41. Rose said she identified one of the men based on his height, weight, and hair. IX:1883-88. Lazaro was taken separately to the show-up and also identified Keandre, saying he was taller. IX:1945-49.

The truck was photographed and processed for latent prints but none were recovered. X:2119-27.

Lazaro identified Keandre in court. IX:1949. However, at trial, Rose could not identify Keandre, saying she thought Keandre was much taller than the suspect; but after the court took a recess she came back to testify, identifying Keandre. IX:1988-1900. However, Rose noted the prosecutor told her Keandre was found with her belongings and the detectives told her some of her items were found in the apartment he was in. IX:1900-01. Thus, is unclear how this affected her testimony.

At 7:08 am, on 05/28/16, Santiago Garcia was working with Juan Carlos, cutting a tree in the front yard of a home. VIII:1682-83. Juan was on the roof and Santiago on a 12 foot ladder. VIII:1686;1692-3. While on the ladder, Santiago observed an African-American man park a white Nissan, with no license plate, three houses away. The man walked towards the home Santiago was at, opened the gate, and pointed a gun at them. VIII:1684-87;1685;1696. Santiago described the gun as a 9mm semi-automatic. VIII:1692-3. He described the male as medium build and 6 ft. tall. VIII:1771.

When the man told them to get down, Juan went backwards and out of sight. VIII:1686-87;1689. While the gun was pointed at Santiago, the man told him to turn off the trimmer and come down. VIII:1690. Santiago

obliged. The man asked for money or whatever he had and Santiago gave him his IPhone 6 and \$500 in cash. VIII:1691-92.

Police arrived approximately 5 minutes after Santiago used the homeowner's phone to call. VIII:1694;X:2209-11. Because Santiago does not write English, the homeowner filled out the police form for him based on his instructions. VIII:1696.

Later, police took Santiago to Chanise's apartment complex where he identified the white car he saw during the robbery as the white Mazda belong to Omara. VIII:1698-1701. He was later taken for a show-up where he identified Keandre by the shape of his head and his beard. VIII:1701-07. He also identified him at trial.

At trial there was some confusion as to his identification of his cell phone. At the grand jury, Santiago identified several different pictures as his IPhone 6 only to admit confusion at trial as to whether any of the pictures showed his IPhone 6. VIII:1701-12;1724-67. In a question, jurors asked if he could turn on the phone that was impounded to see if it was his but the battery was depleted. VIII:1775.

After Keandre was arrested, on 06/01/16, Majors showed Marvin a photographic lineup and he identified Keandre as the person who took his jewelry. VII:1481-88;1498-1502;Exhibit–XIV:3158;XV:3231. However,

none of the other suspects in the lineup matched the description he gave of the suspect at the time of the incident. VII:1501. None of the property taken was returned to him. VII:1502;1503.

In its case-in-chief, Defense presented Dr. Steven Smith. Dr. Smith explained mistaken identifications may occur when a witness is under high levels of stress, such as having a gun pointed at them during a robbery or by being subjected to suggestible identification procedures. XI:2366-73;2477; 2503-04.

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