IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KEANDRE VALENTINE,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Nov 06 2018 04:13 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 74468

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

SHARON G. DICKINSON Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #003710 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

Appellant claims that the district court erred when it admitted three redacted jailhouse calls and their transcripts. Specifically, Appellant contends he was prejudiced because the calls revealed Appellant's custody status to the jury, the evidence was cumulative, and was incomplete.

Here, Appellant was not prejudiced by the fact that each jail call began with the title "Clark County Detention Center Phone Calls." AOB, 52. This is established by the fact that the jury knew Appellant was arrested for the robberies early on in the case. In fact, in the defense's own opening statement to the jury, trial counsel noted on two separate occasions that Appellant was arrested. 7 AA 1455-1456. Additionally, Det. Ludwig testified that after Appellant was interviewed by the

detectives, Appellant was arrested, transported, and booked at the Clark County Detention Center.⁷ 11 AA 2348.

Additionally, introducing jail calls and corresponding transcripts of the calls was not cumulative. To the contrary, the district court observed that the transcripts served a particular purpose: to assist the jury because sometimes things are hard to hear. 9 AA 2010. A review of the record also suggests that trial counsel, over objection, considered playing the audio and including the transcript a "compromise position." 9 AA 2006.

The rule of completeness was inapplicable with respect to a May 29, 2016, jail call. During the jail call, Appellant said "Bobby's been left, 2 days ago." 15 AA 3062. Trial counsel sought to include additional dialogue from the call to clear up Appellant's misperception of how long he had been in jail. 10 AA 2026-2037. Trial counsel argued that the additional language was necessary because Appellant had only been in jail one day and the extra language would explain that Bobby was not arrested because he had left two days prior. <u>Id.</u>

However, Appellant provides no authority for the proposition that the language "the party *may* be required" supersedes a district court's discretion regarding admission of evidence. NRS 47.120 (emphasis added); <u>Crowley</u>, 120 Nev.

46

⁷ Appellant provides no case law to support its position that playing a jail call titled "Clark County Detention Center Phone Calls" is prejudicial.

at 34, 83 P.3d at 286 (noting that "[t]rial courts have considerable discretion in determining the relevance and admissibility of evidence"). Additionally, Appellant sought to introduce the additional language to argue to the jury that Appellant, instead of Bobby, was arrested because Bobby was "gone." 10 AA 2036. In making its ruling, the district court observed that Appellant's argument was not only "irrational" and "inconsistent" but also, "not supported by the Doctrine of Completeness." 10 AA 2037. Lastly, Appellant fails to demonstrate that the statements proffered by the State in the jail calls were misleading or taken out of context. See United States v. Vallejos, 742 F.3d 902, 905 (9th Cir. 2014) (stating that the purpose of the rule of completeness is to "avert misunderstanding or distortion caused by introduction of only part of a document"). Therefore, Appellant's claim fails.

VIII. The district court did not abuse its discretion regarding jury instructions.

District courts have "broad discretion" to settle jury instructions. <u>Cortinas v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1013, 1019, 195 P.3d 315, 319 (2008). This Court reviews whether an instruction is an accurate statement of the law <u>de novo</u>. <u>Id.</u>, 124 Nev. at 1019, 195 P.3d at 319. District courts' decisions settling jury instructions are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. <u>Crawford</u>, 121 Nev. at 748, 121 P.3d at 585 (2003). The district court abuses its discretion only when the "decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." <u>Crawford</u>, 121 Nev. at 748, 121 P.3d at 585

(2005). A defendant has no right to have the jury instructed on a theory of the case which is not supported by any evidence. See Wyatt v. State, 77 Nev. 490, 496, 367 P.2d 104 (1961) (citing State v. Moore, 48 Nev. 405, 233 P. 523 (1925); State v. Alsup, 69 Nev. 121, 243 P.2d 256 (1952)).

a) Appellant's Proffered "Two Reasonable Interpretations" Instruction

Appellant proposed a two reasonable interpretation instruction because "everything in the case [was] circumstantial" and the jury was presented with two theories: one where Appellant was the robber, another where Bobby was the robber. 13 AA 2806. However, Appellant's argument lacks merit.

The district court found that the proposed instruction was "completely unnecessary. . . [because the jury] was already instructed on reasonable doubt." 13 AA 2807. Moreover, this Court has repeatedly held that when the jury is properly instructed on reasonable doubt, it is not error for the district court to refuse to give an instruction on circumstantial evidence or evidence susceptible to two reasonable interpretations. See Mason v. State, 118 Nev. 554, 559, 51 P.3d 521, 524 (2002); Bails v. State, 92 Nev. 95, 96-98, 545 P.2d 1155, 1155-56 (1976). Since this Court has found that failure to give a "two reasonable interpretations" instruction does not constitute error when the jury is properly instructed on reasonable doubt, the district court did not abuse its discretion in declining to give the instruction. Therefore, Appellant's claim fails.

b) **Sanborn Instruction**

Relying on <u>Sanborn v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 399, 812 P.2d 1279 (1991), Appellant claims that the district court abused its discretion in refusing to provide a <u>Sanborn</u> jury instruction regarding the presumption of lost evidence that was, allegedly, in the State's possession. AOB at 56.

In <u>Sanborn</u>, this Court ruled that a defendant is entitled to an irrebuttable presumption instruction in his favor if the State failed to preserve evidence potentially critical to the defense and the absence of that evidence buttressed the State's case. <u>Sanborn</u>, 107 Nev. at 408, 812 P.2d at 1285-86. However, a defendant is only entitled to such an instruction if he shows either that the State acted in bad faith or that the defendant suffered undue prejudice and the exculpatory value of the evidence was apparent before it was lost or destroyed. <u>Daniel v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 498, 520, 78 P.3d 890, 905 (2003). Further, to show undue prejudice, the defendant must show that "the evidence would have been exculpatory and material to the defense."

Here, Appellant requested a <u>Sanborn</u> instruction and the district court denied it. 13 AA 2808; <u>see supra</u> section V. The district court allowed trial counsel to cross-examine Det. Majors about the alleged failure to preserve Darrell's statement regarding the show-up and EZPAWN video. 11 AA 2283-2286; 11 AA 2299-2300. Appellant has not – and cannot show – shown any bad faith. <u>Daniel</u>, 119 Nev. at

520, 78 P.3d at 905. Moreover, counsel cross-examined Det. Majors about not preserving Darrell's statement⁸ and this benefited the defense because it attacked Det. Major's credibility and competency as a detective. Similarly, Det. Majors was cross-examined regarding the EZPAWN video and acknowledged that he impounded a video, however, it was misplaced. 11 AA 2299-2300. Again, by cross-examining Det. Majors, the defense attacked his competency as a detective and furthered Appellant's theory of the case. Marvin's testimony that Appellant drove a white four-door car was relevant because: (1) it was consistent with the other victims who identified Appellant driving a white car and (2) Marvin was 100 percent confident that Appellant was the robber.

The district court did not abuse its discretion regarding the <u>Sanborn</u> instruction because Appellant failed to show bad faith or prejudice. Therefore, Appellant's claim fails.

c) Accessory after the crime

Appellant claims the district court abused its discretion by denying defense's proposed instruction because the State acknowledged it knew defense's theory of the case since opening statements. 13 AA 2829.

⁸ As discussed <u>supra</u>, Darrell testified that he did not remember making such statement, 9 AA 1987-1988.

-

Here, Appellant argued that he sought an "accessory after the crime" instruction because the evidence presented at trial supported such instruction. 13 AA 2830-2831. However, during his argument, trial counsel conceded that the district court had "discretion" to give the instruction. Id. The district court highlighted the fact that Appellant was not facing an "accessory" charge. 13 AA 2830. In making its decision the district court noted that the State did not attempt to prove a lesserrelated crime at trial, "didn't argue it and didn't charge it." 13 AA 2835. Further, the district court concluded that giving a jury instruction on accessory would only "confuse the jury." 13 AA 2836. Therefore, because an accessory jury instruction would have been inconsistent with the evidence presented at trial, the district court did not err in refusing to give the instruction. Cortinas, 124 Nev. at 1019, 195 P.3d at 319 (noting that "[d]istrict courts have broad discretion to settle jury instructions"). As such, Appellant's claim should be denied.

IX. The State did not commit prosecutorial misconduct regarding DNA testimony.

When considering claims of prosecutorial misconduct, this Court applies a two-step analysis. <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). First, this Court determines whether the prosecutor's comments were improper, and second, whether the improper comments were sufficient to deny the defendant a fair trial. <u>Id.</u> This Court views the statements in context, and will not lightly overturn a jury's verdict based upon a prosecutor's statements. <u>Byars v. State</u>, 130 Nev. _____,

_____, 336 P.3d 939, 950–51 (2014). Normally, the defendant must show that an error was prejudicial in order to establish that it affected substantial rights. <u>Gallego v.</u> State, 117 Nev. 348, 365, 23 P.3d 227, 239 (2001).

With respect to the second step, this Court will not reverse if the misconduct was harmless error. Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1188, 196 P.3d at 476. The proper standard of harmless-error review depends on whether the prosecutorial misconduct is of a constitutional dimension. Id. at 1188-89, 196 P.3d at 476. Misconduct may be constitutional if a prosecutor comments on the exercise of a constitutional right, or the misconduct "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." Id. 124 Nev. at 1189, 196 P.3d 476-77 (quoting Darden v. Wainright, 477 U.S. 168, 181, 106 S.Ct. 2464, 2471 (1986)). When the misconduct is of constitutional dimension, this Court will reverse unless the State demonstrates that the error did not contribute to the verdict. Id. 124 Nev. at 1189, 196 P.3d 476-77. When the misconduct is not of constitutional dimension, this Court "will reverse only if the error substantially affects the jury's verdict." Id.

Appellant claims that the State improperly characterized the DNA evidence during its closing argument. AOB, 57-60. This is without merit.

During closing argument, the State noted: "You heard about the DNA evidence in this case. Now, the scientist came in. She told you she could not make any results." 13 AA 2868. The State then noted that Appellant's specific alleles, 12,

13, 13.2, 14, 15, 16, 17, and 28, mirrored the alleles found on the handgun. 13 AA 2869-2870. Trial counsel objected, and the district court overruled the objection noting that, although the DNA expert mentioned that the data itself was "unreliable," the State was "merely arguing that there should be some weight given" to the DNA evidence. 13 AA 2869. Ultimately, the State concluded by stating the following regarding the DNA evidence: "Ladies and gentlemen, it's just worth considering. Take a look at it. See what you think. Make your own determination." 13 AA 2870.

The State was, as the district court found, merely commenting on the weight of the evidence and asked the jury to "make their own determination[s]." Appellant asserts that the State's comments were "highly suggestive" and allowed the jury to incorrectly draw an inference that Appellant's DNA was on the gun. AOB, 59. Appellant seems to argue that he was prejudiced when the State asked the jury to weigh the DNA expert's findings that some of Appellant's alleles matched those found on the gun. This is unpersuasive because the State reminded the jury that the

⁹ Appellant represents that the prosecutor "noted Keandra's [sic] DNA matched 12 of 13 allele [sic] found on the swab." AOB 58. This suggests that the State communicated to the jury that 12 out of the 13 alleles found on the handgun matched Appellant's alleles. The State never made this argument. Rather, the State explained to the jury that the "swab of the handgun revealed a 12 and a 13 allele. . .Mr. Valentine [has] a 12 and a 13 allele. 13 AA 2869.

¹⁰ Appellant reasserts his argument from issue V. Specifically, the argument that the DNA expert's charts were improperly admitted even though the district court found that the charts would assist the jury in comprehending the DNA expert's testimony. 14 AA 1301.

DNA expert could not any conclusive findings. 13 AA 2868. Moreover, any perceived prejudice was cured when the district court ruled on Appellant's objection and stated that the underlying DNA expert's data was "unreliable." <u>Id.</u> Ultimately, the State wanted the factfinder to consider and weigh the DNA evidence. Nothing more. These comments were well within the scope of permissible argument.

However, to the extent this Court finds any error, it was harmless. Specifically, because the jury was presented with multiple eyewitnesses who identified Appellant as the robber. Under NRS 178.598, "[a]ny error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." Non-constitutional trial error is reviewed for harmlessness based on whether it had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict. Knipes v. State, 124 Nev. 927, 935, 192 P.3d 1178, 1183 (2008). Because the jury would have found Appellant guilty absent the State's comment, Appellant cannot demonstrate that the State's comments are such that warrant reversal.

X. There was no cumulative error.

This Court considers the following factors in addressing a claim of cumulative error: (1) whether the issue of guilt is close; (2) the quantity and character of the error; and (3) the gravity of the crime charged. Mulder v. State, 116 Nev. 1, 17, 992 P.2d 845, 854-5 (2000). Appellant must present all three elements to succeed in proving a cumulative error claim. Id. Moreover, a defendant "is not entitled to a

perfect trial, but only a fair trial." <u>Ennis v. State</u>, 91 Nev. 530, 533, 539 P.2d 114, 115 (1975) (*citing* <u>Michigan v. Tucker</u>, 417 U.S. 433, 94 S. Ct. 2357 (1974)).

Here, as discussed supra, Appellant fails to demonstrate any error, let alone cumulative error sufficient to warrant relief. Appellant's guilt is evident based on the evidence that was presented at trial. Appellant argues that the identification procedures were highly suggestive, the crimes were serious, and the quality and character of errors were substantial. AOB, 60-61. The State disagrees. Appellant was identified by seven different eyewitnesses as the robber. Many of whom identified Appellant within hours after they were robbed. Additionally, most of the witnesses identified Appellant as the robber with 100 percent certainty. Moreover, police also found the personal property of some of the victims that were robbed on the morning of May 28, 2016, in the apartment where Appellant was arrested. Ultimately, the evidence overwhelmingly supported Appellant's conviction. Therefore, Appellant's claim of cumulative error is meritless and this Court should affirm Appellant's Judgment of Conviction.

Lastly, the State submits that if any errors were committed during trial, those errors should be subject to a harmless error analysis in light of the overall record. Pursuant to NRS 178.598, "any error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." See also Knipes v. State, 124 Nev. 927, 935, 192 P.3d 1178, 1183 (2008) (noting that nonconstitutional trial error is

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